BEFORE THE WEST VIRGINIA SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS

Docket No. 31854

I. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On January 30, 2004, the State of West Virginia Human Rights Commission ("HRC"), pursuant to West Virginia Code §5-11-11, entered the Decision appealed from. The Decision affirmed, without any explanation, that Petitioner Barbara Cobb ("Teacher"), who was a respondent before the Commission in a case brought on behalf of an African-American student at Riverside High School, had discriminated against the student ("KW" or "Student") but, on account of a Student's behavior, reduced the award against the teacher to \$500.00. This Court granted review.

II. STATEMENT OF FACTS

This case involves certain interreactions between an assertive senior high school African-American student and a white teacher at Riverside High, the Petitioner, during two or three of the four years the Student attended Riverside High School in Kanawha County.

The Student alleges that the Petitioner-Teacher engaged in a pattern of racial discrimination against her during a three-year period which began in the school year of the ninth grade year¹ when the Student was in the Teacher's second semester English classroom, the only class the Student attended taught by the Petitioner and during portions of the following two school years when the Student was a tenth grader and a junior. Although the ALJ, as affirmed by the HRC and the Circuit Court, generally found for the Student and against the Teacher, he excoriated the Student for her verbal behavior and disrespect toward the Teacher. The ALJ found:

... as a matter of fact, the [Student] ... was chronically tardy to the respondent ... [Teacher's] class; and, that she and her group of African-American friends, were frequently very loud and disruptive in the hallways of Riverside High School during her ninth grade year. It is further found that the [Student] complainant was combative and confrontational with the [Teacher] respondent, and that she took advantage of the situation concerning the administration's suggestion to [the Teacher] that she refrain from contact with the [Student], to goad [the Teacher] KW [the Student] would block the hall when [the Teacher] ... tried to pass. KW muttered things like "just let her say something." She would generally run her mouth about [the Teacher] ... to her peers so that [the Teacher] would know she was being talked about by KW and her friends. [citations omitted]

Factfinding 22, Final Decision at 10. The ALJ further found:

There is no dispute that KW was chronically tardy for class and that she and

¹In the interest of clarity and convenience, the three or four school years relevant herein will be referred to by the grade the Student was in at the time:

<u>Grade</u>	<u>Year</u>	<u>Class</u>
9	'99-'00	Ninth
10	'00-'01	Tenth
11	'01-'02	Junior
12	'02-'03	Senior

her African-American friends were loud and disruptive in the hallways during Jump Start and class changes. The undersigned finds that discipline imposed for such instances during KW's first year were to some extent appropriate. ...

Final Decision at p. 15. Although similar to quotes above, the following summarizes the HRC findings of Student's open antagonism toward the Teacher during the Student's tenth grade year.

This case is very disturbing because of the escalation of hostility between the parties particularly during the 10th Grade year for KW. It is further complicated by the fact that regardless of any racial bias by [the Teacher] ..., KW herself engaged in inexcusable antagonistic behavior toward [the Teacher] ... that year as well. KW would block the hall when respondent tried to pass. KW muttered things like "just let her say something." She would generally run her mouth about respondent to her peers so that the respondent would know she was being talked about by KW and her friends. KW would not back down when confronted by respondent and would yell, rant and rave back in respondent's face.

Decision at p. 16. In awarding only \$500 damages against the Teacher, the ALJ noted:

This is so, not only due to the relative misconduct of the complainant, KW, but also because it is clear that the relative misconduct of complainant KW in her confrontations with respondent, Mrs. Cobb. ...

Decision, p. 18. Hereinafter, the foregoing findings will be referred to as the "rant and rave findings." The Commission did not alter them.

III. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. The refusal of the ALJ to recognize that the "loud ... disruptive ... combative and confrontational ..." behavior of the Student caused the situation underlying the discipline, completely undermines the ALJ's intentional discrimination findings. Further, the findings of intentional discrimination by the Teacher are contradicted by the rant and rave findings and fail to take into account the effect of the legal status of a teacher,

especially when maintaining order in and around the classroom. Thus, the findings are arbitrary and capricious, clearly wrong in view of the reliable, probative and substantial evidence on the whole record and are affected by other error of law, within the meaning of West Virginia Code §29A-5-4(g)(4), (5) and (6).

Westmoreland Coal Co. v. West Virginia Human Rights Commission, 181 W.Va. 368, 382 S.E.2d 562 (1989); Gino's Pizza of West Hamlin, Inc. v. West Virginia Human Rights Commission, 187 W.Va. 312, 418 S.E.2d 758 (1992).

2. The HRC and the Court below failed to recognize the legal status of the Teacher and her authority, her duty administer discipline and the accompanying qualified immunity. Further, the HRC ignored the well-established public policy of leaving all but the most serious forms of student discipline to the educators and keeping them away from the legal system. Thus, the findings of intentional discrimination are "affected by other errors of law" and arbitrary and capricious within the meaning of West Virginia Code §29A-5-4(g)(4) and (6).

West Virginia Code §18A-5-1(c); Keith D. v. Ball, 177 W.Va. 93, 350 S.E.2d 758 (1986)

IV. POINTS AND AUTHORITIES RELIED UPON

Cases:

Adams v. City of Dothan, 45 So.2d 761, 759 Ala. Civ. App. (1986)

Bethel School District v. Fraser, 478 U.S. 675 (1986)

Bryant v. Independent School District No. I-38 of Garvin County, Oklahoma, 334 F.3d 928, 930 (10th Cir. 2003)

Davis v. Ann Arbor Public Schools, 313 F.Supp. 217 (E.D.Mi. 1970)

Dickens v. Johnson County BOE, 661 F.Supp. 157 (E.D. Tn. 1987)

Gino's Pizza of West Hamlin, Inc. v. West Virginia Human Rights Commission, 187 W.Va. 312, 418 S.E.2d 758 (1992)

Keith D. v. Ball, 177 W.Va. 93, 350 S.E.2d 72 (1986)

Loveland v. Martin, 355 F.3d 776 (4th Cir. 2004), dissent

New Jersey v. T.L.O., 469 U.S. 325 (1985) (Powell, J. concurring)

Poling v. Murphy, 872 F.2d 757 (6th Cir. 1989)

Tinker v. Des Moines Independent Community School District, 393 U.S. 503, 526 (1969), dissent

Westmoreland Coal Co. v. West Virginia Human Rights Commission, 181 W.Va. 368, 382 S.E.2d 562 (1989)

Statutes:

West Virginia Code §18A-5-1(b)

West Virginia Code §18A-5-1(c)

West Virginia Code §29A-5-4(g)(4)(6)

West Virginia Code § 61-2-5

Other Sources:

Prosser, Law of Torts, §120 (1971)

Restatement (Second) Torts, §153(b)

Safe School Act

V. ARGUMENT

THE EVIDENCE OF INTENTIONAL DISCRIMINATION IS INSUFFICIENT, PARTICULARLY IN LIGHT OF THE "RANT AND RAVE FINDINGS".

A. THE FINDINGS OF INTENTIONAL DISCRIMINATION ARE CONTRADICTED BY THE RANT AND RAVE FINDINGS AND FAIL TO TAKE INTO ACCOUNT THE EFFECT OF THE LEGAL STATUS OF THE TEACHER.

1. Since no other students engaged in the behavior summarized in the rant and rave findings, there is no case of discrimination.

The ALJ found:

"the [Student] ... was chronically tardy to the ... [Teacher's] class; and, that she and her group of African-American friends were frequently very loud and disruptive in the hallways of the Riverside School during her ninth grade year. It is further found that the [Student] ... was combative and confrontational with the Teacher ..."

No other students of any race or color exhibited anything like that behavior. Common sense tells us that the rant and rave findings recognize a clear basis and, indeed, a crying need, for disciplinary action. Therefore, the disciplinary actions to control her classroom and the school environment are not discrimination.

The Decision's findings about the treatment of other African-American students in the ninth grade second semester class (the only semester the Student was in the Teacher's class) is based on the faulty premise that the Teacher did not discipline or send other students to the office. Although the ALJ tried to ignore it, the record is clear that at least one white student was sent to the front office at least five times for acts similar to those performed by the Student. The Teacher testified without contradiction that a certain white student, C.E., had been sent to the front office five times for acts similar to those performed

by the Student (T Vol. II, 226) and that other white students, A.B., had been disciplined by her.

However, this case really is about the relationship between the Student and the Teacher as described in the rant and rave findings and throughout the Decision. The following specific findings about that relationship are themselves contradicted by the rant and rave findings.

2. The factfindings of discrimination are contradicted by rant and rave findings concerning student's behavior.

Although he found against the Teacher, the ALJ found that the Student basically had performed most of the behavior which the Teacher and her colleagues had found unacceptable. However, when the specific factfindings which the judge made to support a finding of racial discrimination against the Teacher are analyzed against the "rant and rave findings" and the entire record, the rant and rave findings actually contradict and undermine the specific findings. While we appreciate the effort of the judge to be fair about the Student's conduct, it is inherently unfair and, to be specific, an abuse of discretion, to make rant and rave findings as to totally unacceptable behavior and then ignore the "rant and rave" context in which the assertedly discriminatory behavior of the Student occurred.

Factfinding 15 deals with an incident which occurred during the tenth grade year. The Judge found that the Teacher "claimed"² that the Student³ was "obstructing the hallway

²The ALJ never discredits the "claim" nor makes any findings of fact to the contrary; but, he did find that the Student "would block the hall when [the Teacher] ... tried to pass." The Student "... would not back down when confronted by [the Teacher] ... and would

she [the Teacher] was attempting to go down, and a heated verbal exchange occurred." The Student was in the hallway, supposedly upset about what the Teacher had said about her, when the Teacher and the Student met. The Student said that "Mrs. Cobb asked me when I was passing her what was wrong." (T I, 46) The Teacher testified that the Student approached her "in a weak little voice" and the Teacher asked what was wrong. The Student replied that she didn't appreciate what the Teacher was saying about her. (T II, 197-8) The Teacher then testified that the Student got in her face and repeatedly screamed "I'm talking to you." The Teacher repeated several times that she did not want to have a discussion with the Student. Student cornered the Teacher and was continuing her verbal attack when another teacher, Mrs. Hopkins, came up and took the Student "by the arm" and said, "[KW], come here."⁴ Mrs. Hopkins withdrew the Student and after a pause the

yell, rant and rave back in the [Teacher's] face." Decision 16.

³The ALJ's finding that the Student was with "her friend" (Factfinding 15) at the time is clearly erroneous. The only two persons to the confrontation, the Teacher and the Student, testified that the confrontation involved was one-on-one with no witnesses.

⁴Mrs. Hopkins related that she observed the two having a conversation with their faces about twenty to twenty-five inches apart. "I could tell that they were both upset and I knew that there had been some problems I went over and just asked [the Student] to come with me and she did." Mrs. Hopkins then admonished the Student, that if she needed to talk to Mrs. Cobb to "do it in front of an administrator, don't do it in the hallway." (T II, 8-10) Later that day, Mrs. Hopkins sent an e-mail message to the Teacher stating:

I'm sorry you are having it difficult[y] with this situation. ... I ... thought I could at least try to get her away and talk to her. What I have told her and told her today was that since there is a problem, no matter who did what or said what or whose fault it is, that she should not say anything back to you. If there is a problem, it is better for her not to confront you, especially in the hallway. ... Anyway, I hope this situation is somehow resolved and I know it

Teacher followed and told the Student that "it was a good thing" that Mrs. Hopkins had intervened. The ALJ then completes the factfinding by noting the "it's a good thing ..." statement, thus turning the incident against the Teacher, and at page 17 characterizes the incident as an example of Teacher's inability to "leave well enough alone ...". The student did not take the stand in rebuttal to deny the Teacher's full account that the Student initiated the confrontation, which the Student had with supporting detail to contradict the Teacher's testimony in her testimony in chief. T __.

The Judge believed that the insubordination in the above situation occurred as testified to by the Teacher. The finding that the Student would "block the hall when [the Teacher] ... tried to pass. ... [The Student] would not back down when confronted by [the Teacher] and would yell, rant and rave back in the [Teacher's] face," fits the facts of this incident exactly as described by the Teacher. (T __) However, the Judge avoids the obvious conflict in the evidence by failing to connect the outrageous behavior of the Student to any specific incident or even relating those findings to the reasons for many of the Teacher's actions.

- a. The Student "... was chronically tardy to the ... [Teacher's] class ...".

We now discuss how the above-quoted finding conflicts with other findings made by the Commission. The factfindings we now discuss are examples of

has been stressful for you. Good luck to you and hope you are okay.

RX 12. The foregoing account of the event and surrounding opinions are strong proof of the absence of discriminatory motive on the part of the Teacher, especially keeping in mind the "rant and rave" finding which specifically applies to that factual situation.

how the above rant and rave behavior conflicts with the Decision. Factfinding 8 deals with the alleged discrimination against the Student. The Student claimed, and the ALJ found (Decision 14), that being kicked out of class and sent to the office for being tardy was an act of discrimination. The Teacher (as credited by the ALJ) testified that the Student was not only tardy but was disruptive to the teaching activities going on in the classroom when the Student entered.⁵ The Student disrupted the class by demanding to be briefed on what she had missed. Race was not a factor in this episode. The classroom incidents occurred during the second semester of the ninth grade year, well after the group of unruly African-American ninth graders had been identified as being "disruptive in the hallways during Jump Start [homeroom] and class changes" (Decision 15) and disruptive in class. Cobb, T Vol. II, 113; Harper, T Vol. II, 238, 240; Cavendar-McNeil, T Vol. II, 21-23. The failure of the ALJ to consider the legal duties and obligations of the Teacher (see pp. 25-27 below) to maintain order before ruling on intention of discrimination was error.

Well into the second semester, during the first of two meetings between the mother of the Student, the principal and the Student, requested by the mother, the Student admitted, when asked by the principal, that race was not an issue. (T Vol. I, 71) The Teacher had other classes with African-American students who had not been disciplined (see RX 15, Answer No. 6). Further, two particular white students were specifically identified as having been the subject of discipline. See p. 7 above.

A person engaged in intentional racial discrimination, especially in as open a setting

⁵This testimony, apparently credited by the ALJ, in light of his findings quoted above at p. 3.

as a public school, is unlikely to repeatedly take the problem of the behavior of the Student to her superiors, including both the school and County Superintendent (T Vol. II, 190, 191; RX 20-21) ; nor is she likely to keep detailed records of each transaction, as the Teacher did. See, for example, RX 8-12. Those are the acts of a person seeking definition of her duties and protection. The Student's testimony as credited by the ALJ that the Teacher kept confusing her with another student hardly jives with the ALJ's findings as to the misbehavior of the Student. It is doubtful that a student who has misbehaved so much could be confused with another student who misbehaved much less, if at all. The crediting of the Student's testimony that African-American students were singled out for harsher treatment (supposedly not being provided with a "post-it" note and other minor infractions) is not supported by any details nor any showing that what white students who performed similar acts were not disciplined or were not identified for harsher treatment as being denied a post-it note. Such minutia should not be the subject of an HRC or court proceeding.

After repeated tardiness and disruption of the class by the student's tardy arrival, the Teacher experimented by briefly "locking out" the Student from her classroom (Factfinding 9). The other student who had been directly instructed by the Teacher to not unlock the door (so the Student could enter later), flagrantly violated the directive and did unlock the door. The Teacher further experimented with calling the mother of the second student concerning that student's direct disobedience. Neither experiment had the desired effect and the Teacher did not repeat either.

The Teacher's remark following the phone call that, in effect, the parent of the

second student was just as disrespectful as the second student is not evidence of racial discrimination; because, the student in question had, as the ALJ recognized, engaged in the misconduct of being repeatedly tardy to class, by remaining in the hallway when they should have been in class. Since there is no showing in the record that non African-American students were repeatedly tardy to class and then disruptive when they did arrive, there was no need to try any innovative approaches to try to make them conform to basic normals of group behavior.

Inasmuch as the ALJ has already found on a very clear record that the Student "and her African-American friends were loud and disruptive in the hallways during Jump Start⁶ and class changes" and since students were supposed to be present in Jump Start, just like any other class, the truth of the comment of the Teacher that it was their "nature to be loud," which was found to be a violation (factfinding 21), is established by the findings of the ALJ that the African-Americans "were frequently loud and disruptive ..." (FoF 10).⁷ The practice of allowing students who were not late to class and were known as "good students" to arrive late, but to exclude students who were chronically late to class, is hardly racial discrimination. Keep in mind that the Teacher testified that tardiness of the Student was frequently intentional, as was seen in the fact that she would repeatedly hang around her locker when told to go to Jump Start by the Teacher and other teachers. The question

⁶"Jump Start" is the initial class of the day and is essentially a combination of home room and a brief study hall and/or opportunity for individual tutoring.

⁷It is clear from the ALJ's findings and the record that the noise levels and activities of the African-American group of the Student's friends was much louder and more noticeable than the normally noisy and rough actions of teenagers.

at hand concerns how a Teacher reacts to one or more students who are continually and deliberately late to class as compared to students who are not. Therefore, the circumstance that the unruly group are members of a protected class does not immunize them from the efforts of the Teacher to maintain order.

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