No. 31854

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

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

## VI. ARGUMENT

### A. **THE ALJ'S FINDINGS THAT MS. COBB'S HARASSMENT AND DISCRIMINATORY TREATMENT OF KRYSTAL WATTIE WAS RACIALLY MOTIVATED ARE SUPPORTED BY SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE AND SHOULD BE AFFIRMED.**

1. **The ALJ's findings, to the effect that both parties behaved badly at times, are not inconsistent with his finding of racial discrimination and harassment by Ms. Cobb.**

Appellant attempts to make Krystal Wattie's conduct, not Ms. Cobb's conduct, the focus of this appeal. In doing so, the Appellant exaggerates the misbehavior of Krystal and fails to justify or excuse the obsessive, selective and racially motivated conduct of Ms. Cobb toward Krystal.

Appellant makes much of what she refers to in her Brief as the ALJ's "*rant and rave*" findings. (See Brief of Petitioner, pp. 2-3). These parts of the Final Decision make reference to "antagonistic behavior" by Krystal Wattie, refusing to back down when confronted and "running her mouth" to her peers regarding Ms. Cobb. (ALJ's Final

Decision, p. 10, Finding of Fact No. 22; ALJ's Final Decision, p. 16). Appellant quotes and cites these parts of the Final Decision throughout her Brief.

If Krystal Wattie's behavior was as objectively bad as Appellant suggests, it is remarkable that she was such a successful student and had the respect of the school's administrators and other teachers. Indeed, if Krystal's behavior was really so bad, we would expect to find that she had been suspended or expelled.<sup>8</sup> What the record reflects is that with very few exceptions, Barbara Cobb is the only teacher who found that Krystal's conduct warranted a disciplinary response. And based upon Ms. Cobb's disciplinary referrals and her other documents, she found Krystal in almost constant need of disciplinary attention. Clearly Ms. Cobb's assessment was not objectively valid, and the ALJ recognized this.

However, the ALJ also recognized that Krystal was not without fault. In judging the evidence, the ALJ did not refrain from evaluating the conduct of the student as well as the teacher, and he did not refrain from commenting upon what he believed was inappropriate or overly reactive conduct on the part of the student. The ALJ factored this into his decision. However, the ALJ properly made the focus of decision the conduct of the teacher, and properly rejected the assertion that Ms. Cobb's conduct toward Krystal was justified.

Appellant claims that "[w]hile we appreciate the effort of the judge to be fair about the Student's conduct, it is inherently unfair and, to be specific, an abuse of discretion, to make rant and rave findings as to totally unacceptable behavior and then ignore the 'rant and rave' context in which the assertedly discriminatory behavior of the Student occurred." (Brief of Petitioner, p. 7). But in truth, the ALJ did not ignore this context. The ALJ weighed the factors together, refusing to ignore the inequitable conduct by Krystal, and refusing to overlook the discriminatory conduct of Ms. Cobb. The Court is bound to give the ALJ deference unless his findings are clearly wrong. Appellant would have this Court withhold this deference and reverse the ALJ's decision because of his honesty and balance.

---

<sup>8</sup>Instead, it is Ms. Cobb who has the record of being suspended.

The Appellant completely ignores Ms. Cobb's own "ranting and raving" and the ALJ's findings that reflect them. For example, the ALJ found that "Respondent constantly harangues everyone and anyone concerning Complainant KW, and bristles at any honors she receives." (ALJ's Final Decision, p. 9, Finding of Fact No. 20; see also Commission's Exhibit Nos. 2-19). The ALJ notes that "Respondent has gone completely out of reason with her actions toward Complainant, KW," and that "Respondent has a propensity to get in peoples faces during such confrontations, as she was on this occasion and many others, and with Ms. Qazi on another occasion." (ALJ's Final Decision p. 16-17). The ALJ found: "Respondent couldn't leave well enough alone on another occasion when she came back after KW when Ms. Hopper had separated them, to say 'it's a good thing she came along when she did or I don't know what would have happened.'" (ALJ's Final Decision p. 17). And the ALJ found that "Respondent's constant attacks on KW and others whenever KW was honored or recognized for her achievements is simply inexcusable . . ." (ALJ's Final Decision p. 17).

These "rant and rave" findings regarding Ms. Cobb are well supported by the evidence in the record, and the conduct they describe is in no way justified by anything which Krystal Wattie did. The ALJ aptly notes the irony of the situation in the Final Decision where he says:

What is so aggravating about this case, is that both Respondent and Complainant want and demand respect from the other but are unwilling to reciprocate that respect.

(ALJ's Final Decision p. 17).

But the ALJ does not lose sight of the fact that Ms. Cobb is an adult professional with certain duties, including nondiscrimination. A teacher's racial discrimination and harassment is not excused by a student's lack of respect.

**2. The ALJ's finding that Barbara Cobb's harassment of Krystal Wattie was based on race is supported by substantial evidence.**

In her first assignment of error and first argument, Appellant also asserts that Ms. Cobb's conduct cannot be discrimination because the disciplinary actions to control her

classroom and the school environment are not discrimination. However, the record is replete with evidence supporting the ALJ's judgment that Barbara Cobb treated Krystal Wattie as she did because of her race.

Appellant asserts in her appeal that the record does not support the conclusion that African American students were singled out (Petition for Appeal, pp. 6-7), simply ignores the credible evidence on the point, including the testimony of Krystal Wattie, student A.W., Principal Richard Clendenin and Assistant Principals Paula Potter and Jacquie Switzer. The credible evidence is quite clear that Krystal and her African American friends were singled out. It is even clearer that race was a significant factor in Ms. Cobb's subsequent obsession with "disciplining" Krystal long after Krystal ceased to be her student and after both the Principal and the Superintendent had asked Ms. Cobb to refrain from contact with Krystal.

The pattern of discrimination began while Krystal was a student in Ms. Cobb's class.<sup>9</sup> If Krystal Wattie was absent from Barbara Cobb's class, Ms. Cobb would not provide her with the homework assignment unless Krystal involved an administrator. (Tr. I, pp. 13-15, 203-205). If Krystal would raise her hand in class, Barbara Cobb would refuse to acknowledge her. (Tr. I, pp. 15-17). Barbara Cobb locked Krystal out of the classroom. (Tr. I, pp. 17-18). Ms. Cobb never locked other students out of class. (Tr. III, p. 5). On one occasion when Krystal requested a syllabus from Barbara Cobb regarding a particular assignment, Ms. Cobb abandoned any composure and turned the incident into a confrontation, treating the request as misbehavior worthy of public humiliation. (Tr. I, pp. 22-23, 205-206). When Barbara Cobb was anywhere nearby, even in the hallway or at a sporting event, Krystal risked disciplinary action for something as innocent as speaking to a fellow student.

Students A.W., P.B. and R.T., who are all African American, were also treated badly by Barbara Cobb. (Tr. I, p. 17). P.B. recalled an incident when she went to Barbara Cobb and requested a post-it note to put on her locker. Ms. Cobb took out a pad of post-it-notes,

---

<sup>9</sup>But this period was relatively short, lasting only a few months in the early spring of 2000.

but then set it on her desk and told P.B., "You can go get some from someone else." (Tr. I, p. 209).

Principal Richard Clendenin testified that other African American students besides Krystal Wattie also were having trouble with Barbara Cobb. In those cases, the problem was solved by moving the students to other English classes. These students did fine once they were moved. (Tr. II, pp. 96-97). Mr. Clendenin and Ms. Potter testified that Barbara Cobb focused her disciplinary attention on the African American students at Riverside High School. (Clendenin: Tr. II, p. 88; Potter: Tr. I, pp. 163-164; Tr. I, pp. 206-208).

While Ms. Cobb singled out Krystal Wattie above all, it was clear that African American students were far more likely to receive her discipline than white students. (Tr. I, pp. 17, 163-164, 206-208; Tr. II, pp. 88, 97). Whether or not Ms. Cobb was fully conscious of this pattern in her conduct, it was clear to her administrators, and it is clear evidence of discriminatory bias.

Barbara Cobb acknowledged that Krystal was not the only student who sometimes remained at her locker in the hallway after the beginning of the period known as "jump start." She focused her "disciplinary" efforts on Krystal rather than other students, and asked to explain this, Ms. Cobb testified that these other students were "good students not in need of going for tutoring or make up." (ALJ's Final Decision, pp. 9-10, Finding of Fact 21; Tr. II, pp. 299-300). Ironically, Krystal Wattie was a very good student and earned various academic honors during her high school career. Ms. Cobb knew this to be the case, and she expressed resentment toward Krystal for her achievements.. Krystal earned an "A" for the semester during which she had Barbara Cobb as a teacher.

The way in which Ms. Cobb documented her encounters with Krystal Wattie, writing out quotes in dialect, also indicates a bias. (Tr. III, pp. 19-23; Commission's Exhibit Nos. 2-19). Ms. Cobb tried to explain this in terms of her status as an English teacher and an effort to be accurate. However, this accuracy is notably absent in other ways, and Ms. Cobb herself made clear that her vernacular quotes were meant to convey Krystal's attitude while speaking, which is part of what Ms. Cobb obviously found so offensive.

Krystal Wattie was a bright, capable and confident African American youth, and this may well have been why she was singled out among other African American students.

Assistant Principal Paula Potter commented on Krystal's willingness to speak up, and this may have been part of what annoyed Ms. Cobb. (Tr. I, pp. 173-174).

It is very clear from the record that part of what angered Ms. Cobb was Krystal Wattie's success as a student. Ms. Cobb was upset that Krystal had the respect and good will of other teachers and administrators, she was upset that Krystal had opportunities like HSTA, and Ms. Cobb was upset that Krystal received recognition for her achievements.

**3 A teacher's acts of harassment and discrimination are not excused or justified by any conduct on the part of a student.**

In the second part of Appellant's first assignment of error, it is suggested that Krystal Wattie caused Barbara Cobb's complained of conduct. This is an attempt to obscure the fact that Ms. Cobb is under a duty of nondiscrimination, even when responding to a student. Petitioner is arguing, in essence, that student Krystal deserved the treatment she received from teacher Barbara Cobb. Ms. Cobb refers repeatedly to the ALJ's acknowledgment that Krystal was on occasion loud or late or defensive, and argues that this explained and justified everything Ms. Cobb did to Krystal.<sup>10</sup> However, two wrongs do not make a right, and as between the two, the law has higher standards for the conduct of a teacher.<sup>11</sup> Racially motivated overreaction is wrong, even when the reaction itself was provoked by misbehavior. For example, Rodney King was the victim of civil rights violations, notwithstanding the fact that he had committed serious traffic offenses warranting a police response.

The racially biased reactions of this particular teacher were extreme. The ALJ noted one hallway incident involving Ms. Cobb and Krystal Wattie in which another teacher, Mrs.

---

<sup>10</sup>Ms. Cobb seriously overstates Krystal Wattie's behavior. The ALJ made one finding in this regard. (ALJ's Final Decision, p. 10, Finding of Fact No. 22). A review of the ALJ's Final Decision and of the record does not support the contention that Krystal's behavior was worse than the norm. Indeed, this was established by the testimony of Assistant Principal Paula Potter, who was the primary person in the school responsible for student discipline. (Tr. I, pp. 163-164, 206-208).

<sup>11</sup>The ALJ observed that both Barbara Cobb and Krystal Wattie "want and demand respect from the other but are unwilling to reciprocate that respect." (ALJ's Final Decision, p. 17).

Hopkins, intervened and separated them. There was testimony from each of the three persons about this incident (Tr. II, pp 8-10; Tr. I, p. 46), and there was a dispute of testimony as to how the incident, which was not observed by Mrs. Hopkins, had started. But it was clear from the evidence that as of the time Mrs. Hopkins intervened, it was Ms. Cobb's overreaction which was the problem. Even as Mrs. Hopkins led Krystal compliantly away from the scene, Ms. Cobb chased Krystal stuck her finger in Krystal's face and sought to re-ignite the confrontation. (Tr. II, p.10; Tr. I pp. 46-47). As the ALJ observed, Ms. Cobb "couldn't leave well enough alone." (ALJ's Final Decision p. 17). This particular teacher testified that on many occasions, out of fear of Ms. Cobb, Krystal requested that this teacher walk her to class, which she did. (Tr. II, pp. 12-13).

On another occasion, where a different teacher refused to participate in Ms. Cobb's cruelty toward Krystal Wattie and other African American students, Ms. Cobb turned her cruelty on the teacher, who happened to be Pakistani-born, and made critical remarks about the teacher's accent. (Tr. I, pp. 183-188, 195-198).

It does not save Ms. Cobb from liability merely because some of her conduct was in response to Krystal. If there was a mixture of motives for her actions, Ms. Cobb can avoid liability only if she carries the burden of proving that she would have taken the same adverse action even if race had not been given any consideration. See Barefoot v. Sundale Nursing Home, 193 W. Va. 475, 457 S.E.2d 152, 162164 (1995); Price Waterhouse v. Hopkins, 490 U.S. 228, 109 S. Ct. 1775, 104 L. Ed. 2d 268 (1989); Desert Palace, Inc. v Costa, 539 U.S. 90, 123 S. Ct. 2148, 156 L. Ed. 2d 84, 91 Fair Empl. Prac. Cas. 1569 (2003).

Even assuming that Barbara Cobb had justification, on occasion, for criticizing or punishing Krystal Wattie, it is very clear from the record that her extraordinary pattern of conduct toward Krystal was motivated, at least in part, by race. These circumstances are covered by the Price Waterhouse mixed motive analysis, first recognized by this Court in West Virginia Institute of Technology v. West Virginia Human Rights Commission, 181 W. Va. 525, 531 383 S.E.2d 490, 496-497 n.11 (1989), and later in Skaggs v. Elk Run Coal Co., 198 W. Va. 51, 479 S.E.2d 561 (1996). The evidence makes it very clear that Ms. Cobb went after Krystal Wattie with the persistence she did and "disciplined" her with the

severity she did because of Krystal's race. But for her race, Krystal would not have been in need of protection from Ms. Cobb, and this establishes a violation of the West Virginia Human Rights Act.

In this case, the ALJ reasonably found, and the Commission appropriate affirmed the ALJ's finding, that Barbara Cobb failed to adequately explain her actions. This is true both because the credible evidence fails to show that Krystal Wattie was the outrageous behavior problem that Ms. Cobb makes her out to be, and, more importantly, because most of Ms. Cobb's conduct toward Krystal would not be a responsible teacher's response, even if Krystal were misbehaving.

Ms. Cobb's obsessive conduct toward Krystal Wattie cannot be adequately explained or justified in terms of Krystal's behavior. While there is no dispute that Krystal's behavior may have warranted correction on occasion, it was no worse than other high school students, and in no way warranted the response she received from Ms. Cobb. This is clear from various aspects of the record. First, the credible evidence established that Krystal Wattie was not a significant behavior problem. Administrators and teachers who dealt with her on a regular basis attested to this. (Tr. I, pp. 173-174, 198; Tr. II, p. 14). This alone is enough to refute any claim that Ms. Cobb's conduct toward Krystal was justified.

Second, Ms. Cobb's conduct toward Krystal Wattie was not consistent with appropriate methods of addressing student misbehavior. Locking her out of class and refusing to give her make-up assignments are not legitimate forms of discipline. While Krystal Wattie was her student, Barbara Cobb passed up, and then refused, opportunities to meet with Krystal's mother, where her behavior might have been discussed and constructive solutions sought. And after Krystal was no longer her student, Ms. Cobb was even less interested in efforts to address the problem, and instead actively inflamed the situation. Ms. Cobb went out of her way to confront Krystal over every perceived breach of propriety, even after she had been explicitly instructed by the administration to avoid Krystal.

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